# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/26/2019 4:47 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT

# OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# SUPREME COURT NO. 97713-5

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 78292-4-I

# SCOTT BLOMENKAMP, Petitioner,

V.,

CITY OF EDMONDS, a municipal corporation;

LEIF BJORBACK, Edmonds City Building Official;

and

KAUTZ ROUTE LLC, Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scott Blomenkamp, PRO SE

23227 92<sup>nd</sup> Ave W

Edmonds WA 98020

(206) 569-4149

# **

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
Α.	The Facts Giving Rise to the Dispute		
В.	The Review of Approved Permit Subject of LUPA 18		
С.	LUPA Petition to Superior Court		
D.	Appellant Court		
Е.	City of Edmonds Avoids Issuing a Reviewable Final		
	Decision		
F.	LUPA 2		
G.	Court of Appeals11		
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE		
ACCEPTED12			
VI.	CONCLUSION		
APPENDIX17			

Division I Court of Appeals Decision

Division I Court of Appeals Decision Declining Reconsideration

# Cases

Brown v. Johnston, 482 P. 2d 712 - Or: Supreme Court, Department 2
1971
Chelan County v. Nykreim, 52 P. 3d 1 - Wash: Supreme Court 200213
Chumbley v. Snohomish County, 386 P. 3d 306 - Wash: Court of Appeals,
1st Div. 201611
Gostina v. Ryland, 116 Wash. 228, 233, 199 P. 298 (1921); Boyle v.
Leech, 7 Wn. App. 2d 535, 436 P.3d 393 (2019)14

Habitat Watch v. Skagit County, 155 Wn.2d 397, 407, 120 P.3d 56 (2005)
Heller Bldg., LLC v. City of Bellevue, 194 P. 3d 264 - Wash: Court of
Appeals, 1st Div. 2008
Jongeward v. BNSF R. CO., 278 P.3d 157 (2012)174 Wn.2d 58614
Taylor v. Stevens County, 759 P. 2d 447 - Wash: Supreme Court 1988 13

# I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Scott Blomenkamp, appellant below, hereby petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part II.

# II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant seeks review of an unpublished Court of Appeals decision captioned SCOTT BLOMENKAMP, Appellant v. CITY OF EDMONDS, a municipal corporation; LEIF BJORBACK, Edmonds City Building Official; KAUTZ ROUTE LLC, Respondents (July 22, 2019) (App. A hereto). The Court of Appeals denied appellants' motion for reconsideration on August 27, 2019 (App. A hereto).

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Are occupancy permits, which state on their face "...certifying that...was in compliance with the applicable...codes and ordinances..." *CP 461* issued by a local municipality, final decisions under LUPA? YES! Does a LUPA review constitute an impermissible collateral attack on the original development permits when the original permits explicitly state "...shall not be deemed to modify, waive, or reduce any requirements of any City ordinance nor limit in any way the City's ability to enforce any ordinance provision" *CP 408*? NO!

2. Under Local Project Review, RCW 36.70B.160(3), each local government is required to "adopt procedures to monitor and enforce

[4]

permit decisions and conditions." Is a LUPA petition for review of occupancy permits, which are the final decision in the enforcement of a development project, a belated collateral attack on a permit in the guise of a failure-to-enforce claim? NO!

3. Does the common law remedy of self help in trimming tree roots or branches of a neighbor's tree extend to allowing for destruction of the tree? NO! Is common law subordinate to statutory law of the local municipality and of the State. YES!

4. May the Appellant Court ignore independent testimony when deciding if facts are in dispute when determining the threshold question in a summary judgement? NO!

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the City of Edmonds failing to follow its development permit process and intentionally refusing its responsibility to enforce its development codes and subsequently the Superior Court and Court of Appeals not correctly interpreting and applying the law.

## A. <u>The Facts Giving Rise to the Dispute</u>

The project property is located at 23220 Edmonds Way. Mr. Blomenkamp owns property adjoining the approved project. The project began in 2013 with two pre-application meetings in early 2013 and formally with an application for design review under permit number

[5]

PLN20130066. *CP 165*. The development staff was required to determine consistency in accordance with RCW 36.70B.040 and ECDC 20.04. *CP 74-91*. There is no evidence in the record that the requirements of ECDC 18.45 (Land Clearing and Tree cutting Code) were discussed nor was the required decision pertaining to ADB approved projects issued. *CP 948-953*. The Architectural Design Board (ADB) reviewed the proposed development at a public hearing on February 5, 2014, and approved the development with conditions following the public hearing. The key condition being #12 The plans must comply with the current conditions and regulations. *CP 953*.

Following ADB approval, the applicant submitted five separate building permits for development of the site which were approved on December 29, 2014. They included language that required the permits be compliant with all regulations. *CP 408*. However, the required Land Clearing and Tree Cutting permit was not issued.

Mr. Blomenkamp bought his property May 12, 2015, nearly six months after permit approval and before any initiation of clearing and grading. There was not any notice of pending action on the Kautz Route property. Development of the site began in May 2015. While grading the site, the grading machinery encroached on to Mr. Blomenkamps property and cut the supporting roots that extended into the development site from

[6]

some trees located on Mr. Blomenkamp's property. This grading extended nearly five feet below the grade of the adjoining property. *CP 484-486*. (The photos unfortunately in the record are poor reproductions of the original documents. They do show the excavation starting at Mr. Blomenkamp's chainlink fence which is approximately a foot on his property.)

Mr. Blomenkamp contacted City staff about the damage and requested code enforcement on June 4<sup>th</sup>, 2015. City staff inspected the property and spoke with the developer, Respondent Kautz Route LLC, about the problem. Appellant Blomenkamp met with the Edmonds Mayor and the Director of Development Services on June 12<sup>th</sup>, 2017 to express his concern the development code was not being followed and enforced. Kautz Route LLC (hereinafter "Kautz" or "Kautz Route") voluntarily agreed to not continue work temporarily in the immediate vicinity of the property line while the issue was being investigated. A official stop work order was not issues, part of the plan not to provide a appealable decision. Subsequently, Kautz Route and the City of Edmonds commissioned arborist reports to assess the damage to the trees. Both arborist reports noted some of the trees have been impacted to a degree that the arborists determined them to be hazardous trees. *CP 460-503*.

On June 24th, 2015 the Director of Development Services sent a

[7]

letter summarizing the City's "investigation", one that did not even interview the complainant Mr. Blomenkamp, and concluded that the development was found to be operating within the conditions of the permit. *CP 1947*. This determination however did not memorialize that the development was compliant with ECDC 18.45. Nor did it memorialize any decision to change the landscape requirements requiring two rows of 10 foot trees separating the multi-family zone from single family zone. It also did not indicate any appeal process. Therefore it could not be considered a final determination.

B. The Review of Approved Permit Subject of LUPA 1

On June 29, 2015, Scott Blomenkamp, Marj Penderaft and Andrew Baxter jointly filed a request for review of the ADB approval of the duplex project under ECDC 20.100.040. The request asserted that the duplex project was not compliant with ECDC 18.45, specifically section 18.45.050(H), also that the property had created a hazardous situation and nuisance by causing four of Mr. Blomenkamp's trees to become severe hazards. *CP 151-165*. The hazard and nuisance portions of the Petitioner's ECDC 20.100.040 review were bifurcated from the code violation allegations and forwarded to the Hearing Examiner for review. The Development Services Director summarily dismissed the remaining deficiencies of Petitioner's application for review of an approved permit.

[8]

The Hearing Examiner determined he did not have authority to review the alleged code violations. He did rule that the project did cause a hazardous situation and nuisance. *CP 159,186-188*.

# C. LUPA Petition to Superior Court

On December 9, 2015, Mr. Blomenkamp filed this LUPA petition seeking judicial review of the Hearing Examiners decision limiting the scope of the hearing and his decision that the statutory required redress was ambiguous in Snohomish County Superior Court, Cause No. 15-2-07634-3, pursuant to LUPA Chapter 36.70C RCW. *CP 194-203*. On July 9, 2016, the Superior Court issued its Decision on LUPA and Order. *CP 271-281*.

On August 9th, 2016 the Superior Court issued its Order Granting/Denying Motion for Reconsideration. *CP 327-328*.

D. Appellant Court

On July 24th, 2017, the Court of Appeals ruled that the appellant had not exhausted his administrative remedies and therefore was barred from pursuing enforcement. In deciding this the Court made the unusual choice to utilize RAP 12.1(b) and decide the case based a "failure to exhaust administrative remedies" that was not briefed. Nor did it request additional briefing to allow the Petitioner an opportunity to address the issue. The court did not base its decision on the one provision in LUPA

[9]

that expressly discusses the exhaustion requirement (RCW 36.70C.060). That provision, titled "Standing", requires exhaustion only of "his or her administrative remedies to the extent required by law." The court ignored the clear unrebutted evidence that the appellant did not own the damaged property until May of 2015 and therefore the administrative remedies of appealing the ADB decision or appealing the grading permit were not available to him. This Court denied review. *CP 370-383*.

# E. <u>City of Edmonds Avoids Issuing a Reviewable Final</u> Decision

Through all of Mr. Blomenkamp's attempts, the City of Edmonds would not issue any "final decision by the highest authority" on the compliance of the project with development regulations. Mr. Blomenkamp warned the City that under Chumbley issuing occupancy permits would be a final determination that they were not pursuing enforcement of their development regulations regarding the project and he would be filing under LUPA.

# F. <u>LUPA 2</u>

On April 26, 2017 Mr. Blomenkamp filed his second LUPA challenging the issuing of certificates of occupancy for the project contrary to the plain face of the certificates that the project complies with all regulations. *CP* 440-463. Along with his LUPA, he filed tort claims for

[10]

the damage caused to his property. Before discovery could be done, after briefing on the Petitioner's standing, the LUPA was dismissed by summary judgement that the Certificates were not reviewable final decisions. No argument, nor decision was given that it was a collateral attack on the permit. The tort claims could continue. *CP 533-638*.

On January 18, 2018 the Superior Court ignored the evidence presented of the independent arborist reports as to the damage to Mr. Blomenkamp's property showing that facts were in dispute and dismissed by summary judgement the remaining tort claims for damages. *CP* 735-736.

# G. Court of Appeals

Mr. Blomenkamp filed his appeal to the Court of Appeals claiming that the Certificates of Occupancy were final decisions appealable under LUPA along with appealing the dismissal of his tort claims as not being ripe for a summary judgement as the threshold question of relevant facts being in dispute. Even though Mr. Blomenkamp was opposed by six learned lawyers from two of the largest firms in Washington State the Court again chose to use the unusual choice to employ RAP 12.1(b) and rule that the Appellants challenge to the issuance of occupancy permits was an impermissible collateral attack when it was not briefed. Again,

[11]

there was no additional briefing allowing for the Appellant to address the issue. Further, the Court ignored the multiple arborist reports, photo evidence of the damage, and disputed facts dismissing the case based on the common law that "a property owner may cut back to the property line any tree roots that intrude onto his or her property." ignoring the statutory laws of the City of Edmonds and the State of Washington.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if the decision conflicts with other decisions of this Court, if the decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, if it involves a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or the United States, or if it involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). This petition has multiple issues of first impression.

 A. <u>The Confirmation of the Superior Court Summary Judgement</u> to Dismiss the Appellants LUPA Conflicts with both a <u>Decision by the Court of Appeals and Multiple Decisions of</u> this Court and is of Substantial Public Interest.

The Division 1 Court of Appeal's decision to confirm the Superior Court's dismissal of the Appellants LUPA was not based on the briefings, or the plain statutory requirement of RCW 36.70C. Instead, it went against its own decision in *Chumbley v. Snohomish County*, 386 P. 3d 306 - Wash: Court of Appeals, 1st Div. 2016. While the Court is correct that the key decision was that the determination that "no permit will be required" was the triggering final decision, they ignore their extensive discussion of the relationship of how Occupancy Permits relate to Building Permits that require the permit be in accordance with development regulations thereby not being a final decision on the potential enforcements of regulations at a later date. Further, the Court went on to say

"¶ 59 County Planning closed its enforcement file on September 9, 2015, with the decision that "no permit will be required." County Planning **certified the building for occupancy** on September 22, 2015. **These** were County Planning's **final determinations** that the county was finished with **enforcement** of land disturbing activity and critical area ordinances on lots 60 and 61. **Until these** decisions were made, it was open to further dispute whether County Planning would require Begis to apply for a permit and submit to a rigorous geotechnical review such as County Planning conducted for lot 36." (emphasis added)

While the Court decided the case on the "no permit will be required." determination since it was still a timely challenge it certainly could have decided it on the issuance of occupancy permits. The key part

[13]

of the decision that it spent nearly ten paragraphs explaining was that building permits did not "leave nothing open to further dispute" and that a challenge to enforcement decisions, of which a occupancy permit is one, does not constitute an "implied challenge to or a belated collateral attack on the building permit."

However, the Court ignored its own prior precedent and rule it was an impermissible collateral attack on the permit, further stating "The City's issuance of the April 6, 2017 certificates of occupancy was not a final enforcement decision." Again, the Appellant will state the issues under LUPA on appeal are the City's final decision by issuing Occupancy Permits that it would not enforce its Land Clearing and Tree Cutting Code, ECDC 18.45 *CP 675-682*, and its Landscaping Requirements, ECDC 20.13 *CP 684-689*, which have to do with actions initiated after the development permitting process specifically in accordance with the damage to the Appellants trees and the failure of the project to install the required dual rows of 10' trees separating two different development zones.

The Court of Appeals decision is also in conflict with other Appeals Court decisions in *Heller Bldg., LLC v. City of Bellevue*, 194 P. 3d 264 - Wash: Court of Appeals, 1st Div. 2008, and multiple decisions by this Court in *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 759 P. 2d 447 - Wash: Supreme

[14]

Court 1988, *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 407, 120 P.3d 56 (2005), *Chelan County v. Nykreim*, 52 P. 3d 1 - Wash: Supreme Court 2002 and *Lauer v. Pierce County*, 267 P. 3d 988 - Wash: Supreme Court 2011. The Appellant expounded on these in depth in his Motion for Reconsideration of the Court of Appeals decision. *Pg 4-8*.

# B. <u>The Court of Appeals Decision to Affirm Dismissal of the</u> <u>Appellants Various Trespass Claims Conflicts with Multiple</u> Decisions by this Court.

The Court partially cites this Court's decision that "A property owner may cut back to the property line any tree roots that intrude onto his or her property." *Gostina v. Ryland*, 116 Wash. 228, 233, 199 P. 298 (1921); Boyle v. Leech, 7 Wn. App. 2d 535, 436 P.3d 393 (2019). However, it ignores the critical part in the decision "...but he may not cut down the tree." While Kautz Route did not cut down Mr. Blomenkamp's trees, the act of ripping the supporting roots out and disturbing the soil on Mr. Blomenkamp's property caused the trees to be considered hazardous and required removal according to two arborist reports and the Edmonds Hearing Examiner's decision the subject of Mr. Blomenkamps first LUPA. Further, the letter from Kautz insurance company states that they knew full well that their work would destroy Mr. Blomenkamp's trees. *CP 1015*. The Court further ignores this Court's opinion in *Jongeward v*. BNSF R. CO., 278 P.3d 157 (2012)174 Wn.2d 586 where the Court held that the term trespass in RCW 64.12.030 refers to a "trespass to the tree" not requiring a trespass onto the property the tree is situated on. The major parts of a tree are leaves, flowers and fruit, trunk and branches, and roots. See

www.sactree.com/assets/files/greenprint/toolkit/c/huntsvilleTreeGuide.pdf The consensus is that roots are not separate and distinct from a tree, one does not live without the other. Although Washington Courts have not had a case of such, imagine a neighbor poisoning another neighbors tree by simply poisoning the tree by applying heavy doses of poison on the roots extending underneath his/her property. While not controlling, Oregon has had such a case in *Brown v. Johnston*, 482 P. 2d 712 - Or: Supreme Court, Department 2 1971 where the court decided such action was a trespass to the tree.

The issue in the present case is that statutory law which is codified, is controlling over common law. Common law being based on case law by it's very definition must bow to statutory law. The City of Edmonds established a comprehensive tree removal code that specifically provides for protecting trees during development. *ECDC 18.45*. It specifically defines the act of removal as ""Removal" is actual destruction or causing the effective destruction through damaging, poisoning or other direct or indirect actions resulting in the death of a tree or ground cover." *ECDC 18.45.040*. Further, it provides for tree protective measures that the City in its permitting did not recognize. *ECDC 18.45.050*. The fact that these measures were not included in the original permit does remove the responsibility of Kautz to follow them as the language on the face of the permit makes clear.

C. <u>The Court of Appeals Decision that Occupancy Permits do not</u> <u>Constitute Challengeable Final Decisions not to Enforce and</u> <u>that a Development May Indiscriminately Destroy a Neighbors</u> <u>Trees by Destroying Roots of the Tree are of Substantial Public</u> <u>Interest and a violation of Mr. Blomenkamps Constitutional</u> <u>Rights.</u>

This Court must recognize the fundamental fallacy in the Court of Appeals decision that "In short, Blomenkamp cannot, under the guise of a LUPA failure-to-enforce challenge, use a certificate of occupancy issued at the end of a project to collaterally attack a final land use decision made near the beginning of the project." The Court confuses the functions of project permitting in which the municipality is limited by time limits imposed by RCW 36.70B and articulated in *Lauer v. Pierce County at 36*, with enforcement of activity after the permit approval. By the Court's

[17]

absurd logic, a municipality would be barred from enforcing its development regulations if it did not timely challenge its own permit decision just as their decision bars Mr. Blomenkamp from challenging their refusal to enforce their regulations. The substantial public interest is that as in Mr. Blomenkamp's case, the City of Edmonds avoided providing Mr. Blomenkamp a challengeable final determination by simply ignoring his claims of code violations. Without a final determination, he could not challenge the City in court, violating his 1<sup>st</sup> Amendment U.S. Constitutional "Right of Redress" as well as 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment "Due Process". As LUPA is the exclusive remedy, not having a final decision precludes a challenge. By not allowing Occupancy Permits to be final determinations that the municipality will not enforce it's regulations, the Court opens the door for corrupt officials too avoid being held accountable. These officials have significant motive when one looks at the revenue new development brings to their coffers.

The public has substantial interest in the preservation of trees to combat Climate Change. Surely this court is not oblivious to the daily news reports and the obvious knowledge that trees are consumers of CO2. The conflict between increasingly dense development and their neighbors result in indiscriminate tree removal.

[18]

## VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons above, Appellant Scott Blomenkamp respectfully requests that this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4) of the court of appeals affirmation of the superior court decision. Mr. Blomenkamp simply seeks from this court an order reversing the Superior Court's dismissal of his LUPA and tort claims, allowing for discovery and a decision of the case on its merits. To this date the City of Edmonds has been able to avoid judicial review of its failure to enforce its development regulations to the mental, emotional and financial detriment of Mr. Blomenkamp.

I, Scott Blomenkamp hereby declare under penalty of Washington perjury laws that the foregoing is true and correct.