FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/28/2019 1:54 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/29/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97713-5

NO. 78292-4-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### SCOTT BLOMENKAMP,

Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF EDMONDS, a municipal corporation, Leif Bjorback, Edmonds City Building Official, and KAUTZ ROUTE LLC,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENT KAUTZ ROUTE LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Colin Folawn, WSBA #34211 Email: cfolawn@schwabe.com

Virginia R. Nicholson, WSBA #39601 Email: vnicholson@schwabe.com Bert W. Markovich, WSBA #13580

Email: bmarkovich@schwabe.com SCHWABE, WILLIAMSON & WYATT, P.C.

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Petition for Review does not satisfy any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4 and this Court should not accept review. Review will be accepted by this Court only if one of the following criteria are met:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Blomenkamp appears to argue that the dismissal of his LUPA appeal is in conflict with another Court of Appeals decision and that it presents an issue of substantial public interest. Neither is true.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petition for Review, Appendix.

## A. <u>Neither Chumbley nor any other case is in conflict with</u> the Court of Appeals' decision.

Mr. Blomenkamp's interpretation of *Chumbley v. Snohomish County*, 197 Wn. App. 346, 386 P.3d 306 (2016) is flawed. As Mr. Blomenkamp admits,<sup>4</sup> in *Chumbley* the court held that a LUPA appeal deadline ran from the county's decision that a land disturbing activity permit was not required; the deadline did not run from the issuance of occupancy permits. *Id.* at 364-65. Mr. Blomenkamp's argument that he can challenge the earlier building permits via the occupancy permits is not supported by the *Chumbley* case. Moreover, the unusual facts of *Chumbley* are not present here, where the entire scope of the project was disclosed and considered when City issued the building permit. There is no meaningful comparison to the facts of this case to the facts of *Chumbley*.

Mr. Blomenkamp did not articulate why the other cases he cited conflicted with the Court of Appeals' decision here. He points to his Motion for Reconsideration,<sup>5</sup> but a review of this motion also fails to identify a true conflicting opinion.

Instead, Mr. Blomenkamp argues that the Certificates of Occupancy

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petition for Review, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appellant did not put his Motion for Reconsideration before the Court; it is not included in the Clerk's Papers.

are final decisions regarding code enforcement related to the 2014 permits. Mr. Blomenkamp fails to address that he lacked standing to launch a LUPA petition on the basis of Certificates of Occupancy where all of his claims and grievances relate to the 2014 permits and not the occupancy certificates. All of his claimed harms stem not from a loss of privacy/trees, which he did not lose, but rather from the existence of the new development. CP 1742-43. A certificate of occupancy, a purely administrative function to ensure building safety, CP 1527-30, does not authorize the development of a property. The previously-issued building permits, and any necessary prior land use approvals, did that. By the same token, denial of these Certificates of Occupancy cannot address Mr. Blomenkamp's desire to remove the fully-occupied duplexes or alter the landscaping.

Mr. Blomenkamp's LUPA challenge to the Certificates of Occupancy was correctly dismissed for being a fairly obvious and impermissible collateral attack on the permits issued years ago. Mr. Blomenkamp does not articulate a credible basis for claiming that this matter conflicts with other Court of Appeals cases. The cases he cites do not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision on this issue. His Petition for Review fails to meet the criteria for review.

## B. Mr. Blomenkamp has no supporting evidence for his various damage claims and dismissal of such claims is not in conflict with any Washington cases.

At the time the tree roots on Kautz Route's property were severed, there was speculation that the trees could be damaged and removal was recommended. Mr. Blomenkamp would not cooperate and did not participate in the procedure to have the trees removed and replaced. The trees remain and have stood tall and firm for over four years now. Time has shown that Mr. Blomenkamp's trees were not damaged. CP 2006-07; CP 732-34; CP 1984-91. All of his damage claims, including his trespass claims, require a showing of harm or duty to be viable, which they are not. His damage claims against Kautz Route were unsupported by any evidence and were properly dismissed.

## C. Mr. Blomenkamp failed to identify an issue of substantial public interest.

Mr. Blomenkamp argues that the public has substantial interest in the preservation of trees to combat climate change. While true, that fact does not help him here. First of all, his trees were preserved. Secondly, his identification of a conflict between increasingly dense development and tree removal is a legislative issue addressed in most municipal codes and comprehensive plans.

Mr. Blomenkamp failed to support his Petition for Review with any conflict of law or issue of substantial interest to the public. He has not met

any of the criteria for review and his petition should be denied.

#### V. REQUEST FOR FEES AND COSTS

Pursuant to RAP 18.1, Kautz Route requests its fees and costs on appeal. Attorneys' fees can be awarded based on an agreement, a statute, or some recognized ground in equity. *Hamm v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 151 Wn.2d 303, 325, 88 P.3d 395 (2004) (citing *Dayton v. Farmers Ins. Grp.*, 124 Wn.2d 277, 280, 876 P.2d 896 (1994)).

Under RCW 4.84.370, Kautz Route is entitled to its fees and costs. The statute provides that reasonable attorneys' fees and costs "shall be awarded to the prevailing party or substantially prevailing party on appeal before the court of appeals or the supreme court of a decision by a county, city, or town to issue, condition, or deny a development permit involving a site-specific rezone, zoning, plat, conditional use, variance, shoreline permit, building permit, site plan, or similar land use approval or decision." RCW 4.84.370(1). The court shall award and determine the amount of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs under this section if the prevailing party on appeal is the prevailing party in all prior judicial proceedings. RCW 4.84.370(1)(b). Kautz Route has been the prevailing party in all prior judicial proceedings. CP 1995-97; CP 732-43; CP 1984-91 (Superior Court orders); Petition for Review Appendix (Unpublished Court of Appeals

decision filed July 22, 2019).

**CONCLUSION** VI.

Mr. Blomenkamp failed to meet any of the criteria of RAP 13.4, and

review should be denied. Respondent Kautz Route has endured four years

of litigation on untimely and unsupported claims and respectfully requests

this Court to grant its request for fees and costs pursuant to RCW

4.84.370(1)(b).

Dated: October 28, 2019.

SCHWABE, WILLIAMSON & WYATT, P.C.

By: /s/ Virginia Nicholson

Colin Folawn, WSBA #34211 Bert W. Markovich, WSBA #13580

Virginia R. Nicholson, WSBA #39601

Attorneys for Respondent Kautz Route LLC

14